The Implications of Learning Style Models

To School Counseling:

A Review of the Literature

by

Alexander Loesch

A Research Paper Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master of Science Degree in

School Counseling

Approved: 2 Semester Credits

Carlos Dejud, Ph.D.

The Graduate School

University of Wisconsin-Stout

August, 2009

The Graduate School University of Wisconsin-Stout Menomonie, WI

MS School Counseling

Carlos Dejud, Ph.D.

Author: Loesch, Alexander P.

Title:The Implications of Learning Style to School Counselors:A Review of the Literature

Graduate Degree/ Major:

Research Adviser:

Month/Year:

Number of Pages:

34

August, 2009

Style Manual Used:

American Psychological Association, 5th edition

<u>ABSTRACT</u>

A review of the literature was conducted in order to address the use of learning style models in regards to the school counseling profession. Questions concerning the usefulness, effectiveness and practicality of learning style models were discussed. A critical analysis of the literature revealed that there is a lack of empirical evidence for most learning style models. Dunn and Dunn's (1978) learning style model appears to be the most effective and practical for school counselors to administer in conjunction with Shirley Griggs (1991) learning-style counseling model.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTii
Chapter I: Introduction1
Statement of the Problem5
Purpose of the Study
Questions to be Answered6
Definition of Terms
Assumptions
Limitations7
Chapter II: Literature Review
What is Learning Style?
Learning Style Theory9
Learning Style Models9
Critiques of Learning Style Models11
Finding a Reliable, Valid, & Effective Model12
Federal Mandates15
Role of the School Counselor17
Learning Style Counseling17
Matching Learning Style Preferences with Appropriate Counseling Techniques18
Consultation between Professionals19
Questions to be Addressed in Discussion
Chapter III: Discussion

	Summary	21
	Discussion and Critical Analysis	23
	Recommendations for Counselors	26
	Recommendations for Further Research	27
Refere	nces	28

Chapter I: Introduction

Art Carey, the author of *The United States of Incompetence* (1991), stated in his book that in 1983 the United States Department of Education declared that America was a "nation at risk". Carey went on to report on the dismal state of education in this country, and warned that the foundations of our society were being eroded by "a rising tide of mediocrity that threatens our very future as a nation and a people." He goes on to state that in an effort to remedy this major issue the U.S. pumped billions of dollars (185 billion dollar increase in 1985) into programs, teacher salaries, and toughening graduation requirements throughout the rest of the decade, but to little avail. In 1990, findings from a report by the U.S. Department of Education came out and again said that our students' overall reading and writing skills, as well as our national student drop-out rate, were unchanged and were going to get worse over the years to come. However, a decade would pass before an effort would be made to seriously address these concerns again.

In 2001, the United States congress passed the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) to tackle some of the major issues facing our students' academic success rates and our country's overall lack of competitiveness in the world. President Bush justified NCLB in these words: "Too many children in America are segregated by low expectations, illiteracy, and self doubt. In a consistently changing world that is demanding increasingly complex skills from its work force, children are literally being left behind" (cited in Turnbull, Turnbull & Wehmeyer, 2007, p. 56). Although NCLB has brought a level of accountability to student success, the law has not been properly funded, thus forcing schools to do more with less. Educators have been forced to increase test scores and overall student achievement with relatively low funding and resources.

Other federal mandates followed NCLB. In 2004 and then revised in 2007, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) facilitated the improvement of academic

success for students with disabilities. This stipulation allowed for increased government funding for students with physical, emotional and academic disadvantages, while emphasizing greater collaboration between parents, students and school staff. Although this was a major and important step towards helping students with disabilities and in turn our society as a whole, this again increased the demands on schools, teachers, and local governments to improve overall student success but without providing adequate funding.

Despite all this attention in the past decade on improving student success in the classroom, and owing to poor funding, the outcomes remain dismal. Compared to other developed countries, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) stated in 2007 that the United States ranked among the bottom of developed countries in student graduation rates with only about 75% of our high school students graduating, as compared to the average graduation rate of 87% for European Union countries. Furthermore, on virtually every international assessment of academic proficiency, American secondary school students' performances ranged from mediocre to poor. Even within our borders, the United States still has substantial inequities in achievement, indicating among recent international surveys that the performance gap between the most and least proficient students in the United States is among the highest of all OECD countries (Kirsch, Braun, Yamamoto, & Sum, 2007). The gap between cultural groups is significant. In recent decades, White students are dropping out of high school at a rate of 2.8%, Hispanics at a rate of 5%, and Blacks at a rate of 7.3%, totaling an annual drop out rate at approximately 415,000 students, a number larger than the total population of the city of Minneapolis (Laird, Kienzl, DeBell & Chapman, 2007).

Consequently, since the outlook of the modern workforce has changed dramatically in recent years and the American public schools are failing to properly prepare all of our students

for the global market, countries like China and India are picking up the slack. With over a billion people, the numbers of Chinese 'honor' students alone outnumber our entire U.S. public school population. Currently, highly educated and skilled students from St. Paul are competing against students from Beijing and London. These facts, in combination with a shortage of trained American workers, result in a high influx of foreign nationals into hi-tech, medical, scientific, and educational fields. Given the current state of our education system, this has educators as well as politicians, deeply worried (Kirsch et al., 2007).

We know that the pressures to succeed, the need for collaboration, and the obstacles to overcome in the classroom have never been greater for teachers, parents, administrators, and especially students. The expectation of increased test scores has taken over classrooms and put pressure on not just mainstream students, but on students with disabilities and other learning barriers. Students with autism, cognitive disabilities, emotional and behavioral disorders, learning disabilities, etc, are all expected to perform at the same level of their peers on tests scores. The question is do we have the answers to solve these issues? The answer is a resounding "maybe." In an effort to come up with a good solution to all students who struggle academically, teachers, counselors, and administrators have begun to turn more and more towards individualized learning methods (Turnbull et al., 2007). Logic suggests that if a teacher understands how a student learns best, then the teacher can then tailor his or her teaching style to fit the student, and correspondingly increase student success, as well as raise test scores.

The theory of individual learning styles began roughly 40 years ago. Over the course of those years, learning style theory has been embraced by some and criticized by others. Researchers have been questioning the level of effectiveness, validity, reliability, and practicality of learning style models and assessments (Coffield, Moseley, Hall, & Ecclestone, 2004; Dunn &

Dunn, 1978; Raynor, 2007; Sugarman, 1985). In addition, there are over 70 different assessment models available for identifying learning styles. Many of these models have great commercial appeal but little empirical evidence to back up their findings, while others are seen as accurate, but limited in their pedagogical application. All of this uncertainty over learning style theory has led some researchers to conclude that learning style theory as a whole has little cohesion, limited direction, and minimal application to the classroom (Coffield et al., 2004; Raynor, 2007).

What does this all mean for educators and students? Common knowledge would suggest that individualizing student learning would benefit the student, the teacher, and in turn, society as a whole. Yet, with such little confidence in learning style modalities, what course should educators take, if any? More specifically, who is qualified, responsible, and in a unique position to address such issues within the traditional K-12 educational framework?

School counselors within the school system are in a unique position to apply the methods and assessments of learning styles with students. According to the American School Counselors Association (ASCA, 2004), counselors focus on improving student success in three main areas: 1) academic, 2) career, and 3) personal/social. This is done through teaching in-class lesson plans, leading individual and group therapy sessions, consulting with teachers and parents, and implementing other various programs and curricula. The primary role of the school counselor is to be an advocate for every student in the school. The school counselor is a bridge between the student, the teacher, and the parent. Consequently, in order to be an effective advocate for the students, especially for at-risk and minority students in the schools, school counselors should have a proficient understanding of how all their students learn best.

For example, a particular school in North Carolina focused on African-American academic improvement over the course of four years. The school implemented a learning style

program, directed and led by the school counselor, which addressed how the lowest academic achievers preferred to learn. The school had originally attained scores in the 30th percentile on the California Achievement Test of Basic Skills (CTBS). After only a year of the school-wide learning style program the achievement scores for all students rose to the 40th percentile. This was accomplished by teaching students about their learning style strengths, adjusting the environment to allow alternate lighting and seating, and focusing on tactile instructional methods. By the end of the second year the school was up to the 75th percentile, having implemented small group methods in reading and math during the afternoon hours. Finally, after four years of using the learning style model the school as a whole scored in the 85th percentile, with the African-American students scoring in the 70th percentile or better (Hurley, 1997).

As this school in North Carolina suggests, knowing and applying learning style models as a school-wide program could be an essential component in facilitating school-wide academic success. Assessing the implications of learning style models for school counselors would be a step in the direction towards bettering overall student success for minority and/or underachieving students and the entire school as a whole.

Statement of the Problem

Due to the current state of our country's educational system, the standards set by NCLB, the need for overall academic success for all students, and the unique role of school counselors as student advocate, it is necessary to conduct a review of the literature on learning style models and their implications for counselors in K-12 schools.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this literature review is to help school counselors better understand learning style models and how they can be used to improve the overall education of their students. This review will address current learning style models; assess what learning style model or models appear effective in improving student academic success; and uncover what role the school counselor plays in addressing student learning style preferences.

Questions to be Answered

The following is a list of questions to be addressed throughout this literature review: 1) What are the various models of learning styles and are they valid, reliable and relevant?, 2) Are learning style models effective and practical in an educational setting?, 3) If so, what is the role of a school counselor in regards to learning style models in the school setting?, and 4) What can school counselors do to encourage the use of learning style-focused curriculum, strategies, and assessments, if anything?

Definition of Terms

The following is a list of terms and their definitions employed throughout this paper: *Content-by-strategy interactions.* Instructional strategies based on the content of the subject material.

Learning-by-strategy interactions. Instructional strategies based on the learning preferences of the students.

Learning style. Learning styles are simply different approaches to or ways of learning. *Learning style counseling.* Counseling administered with the awareness of learning preferences of all parties involved in the school setting.

Pedagogy. The art or science of teaching.

Assumptions

The following is a list of assumptions admitted by the author prior to discussion: 1) Educators are not capable of identifying a student's learning style (Pettigrew & Buell, 2001). 2) Students are hard-wired to learn in a certain way (Dunn & Dunn, 1978). 3) Classroom teachers are resistant to school-based consultation from fellow professionals (Gonzalez, Nelson, Gutkin, & Shwery, 2004). 4) The literature on learning styles is directionless; it does not appear to be united in a common direction or goal, and lacks empirical support (Coffield et al., 2004). *Limitations*

The limitations of this study include, but are not restricted to the following: 1) the study is based entirely upon the review of the literature, and is not based upon interactions with students in the classroom, 2) learning style theories will not be tested in the classroom during this literature review. Therefore, empirically, the conclusions that may be drawn have not been proven, and 3) the learning style limitations of the author himself may hinder the outcome of this review. The author struggles with reading and writing, and is significantly more comfortable learning in a hands-on, interactive environment. For this reason, the author is personally invested in the outcome of this study and may inadvertently seek validation for his preferred learning style.

Chapter II: Literature Review

The review of the literature will address the following in regards to learning styles: definition of learning style; overview of learning style theory; descriptions of current theoretical models; critiques of those models; finding a model that is valid, reliable and effective for counselors to use; federal mandates relevant to learning style modalities; the unique role of the school counselor in relationship to learning style models; defining a comprehensive learning style model that works for counselors; and finally, questions to be answered in the discussion and analysis section.

What is Learning Style?

Simply put, learning style is our unique way of consistently responding to and processing information. Everyone has a learning style and everyone's learning style is slightly different, just like our fingerprints. Keefe (1979) defines learning styles as the "composite of characteristic cognitive, affective, and physiological factors that serve as relatively stable indicators of how a learner perceives, interacts with, and responds to the learning environment." Common knowledge suggests that if our learning style is properly accommodated our attitude towards learning will improve along with an increase in productivity, academic success, and overall creativity.

It is important to note that learning styles are not set in stone. An individual's learning style may change numerous times over a lifetime. Learning styles should be seen as points along a scale and not as fixed characteristics. We should not pigeonhole people as either "visual" or "tactile" learners because we are all capable or learning under almost any style, no matter what our preference may be. Therefore, throughout this review I will commonly interchange the words "learning style" with "learning preference." The word preference suggests that the way we learn is not fixed to one characteristic, but that we may "prefer" a certain learning style over another learning style.

Learning Style Theory

For decades, researchers, educators, and theorists have questioned, "How can we teach our students if we do not know how they learn?" The search for this answer led to the concept of an individual "learning style" in the early 1970s. Some theorists at the time also began to use the term "cognitive style." Cognitive style, defined by Raynor and Riding (1997), is an individual's difference in cognition and perception and is commonly confused or used interchangeably with the term "learning style." Yet most researchers would argue that the two terms are distinct, though relevant to one another. Others in the field have called for this clarification to ease confusion and to aid in the direction of further research (Raynor, 2007).

One of the first theoretical models to use the concept of individual learning style was David Kolb's (1984) framework on experiential learning. Kolb's idea of experiential learning stated that students and adults learn best through their personal experiences. From this idea, he went on to build a model based on various ways people learn information, leading to the development of an assessment of learning styles called the Learning Styles Inventory (LSI) (Kolb, 1976). Since Kolb, there have been numerous other approaches or models developed in relation to individual learning styles. Today, there are approximately 70 models addressing some form of learning style theory (Coffield et al., 2004).

Learning Style Models

The vast material produced in recent decades on learning styles and their corresponding models has gained the attention of many educators. Some state that teaching methods should be based on individual student learning styles; a model they believe should be mainstreamed

(Sugarman, 1985). Today many educators are using various teaching methods based on their students' learning styles. In order to explain the various learning style models, we must first understand the theoretical bases of the models and some of the ways that they have been grouped and categorized.

Curry's (1987) "onion" model, as it is commonly referred to, offers a useful framework for grouping and explaining the numerous learning style models. Consisting of four layers (like an onion), the "onion" model emphasizes the notion of an individual person's psychology and seeks to explain the formation of individual learning behavior (Raynor & Riding, 1997). The model suggests that cognitive personality style is at the core of student learning. In other words, learning style traits are "fixed" from birth, are very stable, are difficult to change or modify, and are very important in advanced learning (Coffield et al., 2004). For example, a student who is understood to be a "visual" learner is viewed as cognitively "hard-wired" to learn best via visual stimuli such as graphs, diagrams, power point presentations, etc. For that reason, according to this model, such a student will struggle to learn any new information if it is presented in a dissimilar way (i.e. using an auditory or tactile technique). Those who subscribe to these idea of "fixed" learning styles suggest that educators must tailor their teaching style to meet the student's needs, and not visa versa (Gregorc, 1985).

Other learning style models that encompass the core layer of the "onion" model include Witkin's (1954) construct of field dependence/field independence and the Myers-Briggs Type Indicator (Myers, 1978). Witkin's model addresses the level of independence that a student prefers in processing information (1954). The Myers-Briggs Type Indicator model uses dichotomous scales that measure a person's level of extroversion versus introversion, sensing versus intuition, thinking versus feeling, and judging versus perception (1978).

The second layer of the onion is the information-processing layer. This is described as an individual's preferred cognitive approach in absorbing information. This layer is considered easier to modify than the inner layer because learning style is seen as a reflection of the core cognitive personality style, not the cognitive style itself. Kolb's (1984) model of information processing is an example of a model that fits into the information-processing layer of Curry's "onion" model.

The third layer consists of an individual's level of social interaction in the classroom. A model that represents this layer would be Reichmann and Grasha's (1974) types of learners (cited in Griggs, 1991, p. 3). This includes the concepts of independent versus dependent learning, collaborative versus competitive learning, and participant versus avoidant learning among students.

The fourth and final layer of Curry's onion model is entitled the multidimensional and instructional layer. This layer encompasses learning style models that are easier to modify and influence, unlike the core layer. This outer layer suggests that learning styles are not based on "fixed" traits, but on preferences in processing information and can be easily modified through the environment. Keefe's (1989) Human Information Processing Model and Dunn and Dunn's (1978) Learning Style Model fall into this category. These models stress the importance of identifying and addressing a student's individual differences in the classroom.

Critiques of Learning Style Models

According to Coffield et al. (2004), there is no best way to measure the accuracy and effectiveness of the various learning style models. Coffield (2004) recognizes that researchers agree upon the fact that individuals have a particular style or preference for learning, but argues that it is far more important to match a teacher's presentation with the nature of the subject

matter, (such as providing correct learning methods, strategies, and context), than matching individual preferences. For example, a study done by Marzano (1998) demonstrated that regardless of subject matter and/or student learning preferences, the use of large visuals and tactile lesson plans facilitated positive academic student outcomes.

What Marzano's (1998) research suggests is that students do not have a certain "style" of learning, but rather a preference of how they absorb information. If this is true, then teachers should not necessarily hold learning preferences first and foremost in formulating their lesson plans. Instead researchers like David Merrill (2000) suggest that teachers should base their instructional strategies on the content of the material first and foremost (content-by-strategy interactions), and then factor in individual student preferences in order to enhance the overall student learning experience. Merrill goes on to state that even though he recommends teachers use the content-by-strategy method first, the "learning-by-strategy" interactions may increase a student's learning self-awareness. In doing so, teachers could help the student to better understand his or her strengths and weaknesses and thus become more knowledgeable about theirs and others learning (Coffield, 2004). This may lead to better self-advocacy and self-awareness by students in the classroom, a common goal for school counselors in every setting. *Finding a Reliable, Valid, and Effective Model*

Shirley Griggs (1991), author of *Learning Style Counseling*, makes a strong argument for the Dunn and Dunn Learning Style Inventory (LSI) model. She claims that the LSI model works the best in the school setting based on its multidimensional approach, its high rates of reliability and validity, and its relatively strong base of research. Griggs recommends that for grades K-2 the Learning Style Inventory – Primary Version is an appropriate learning style assessment because of its use of a pictorial questionnaire. For grades 3-12, the 104 item self-report LSI questionnaire is suitable in identifying environmental, emotional, sociological, physical, and psychological learning preferences for elementary through senior high students. Finally, for identifying adult learning preferences of teachers, counselors and staff, there is the Productivity Environmental Preference Survey by Dunn, Dunn, & Price (1982). This survey consists of one hundred questions that help to identify an adult's preference in his or her work and learning environment.

Dunn and Dunn's (1978) LSI method places individuals into four distinct categories based on their perceived learning strengths. These categories are commonly identified by the acronym "VAKT", or "Visual, Auditory, Kinesthetic, and Tactile." As the term suggests, individuals who score high in the visual category learn best with visual stimuli when presented with new information, whereas other learn best with auditory, kinesthetic, or tactile stimuli. According to Dunn and Dunn's (1993) research, approximately 40 percent of the population is visual learners, which means that visual learners will remember 75 percent of what they read or see. This percentage can change by age. Dunn and Dunn state that more young children tend to be highly kinesthetic (experiential learners) and tactile learners (learning by writing or drawing). Although some children grow up to develop strengths in other learning styles, many of them do not. This can clearly become an issue at the middle school level and above where auditory and visual representations of new information dominate. We are thus lead to the question of whether or not assessing students using Dunn and Dunn's (1978) Learning Style Inventory is effective for addressing and guiding instructional methods in the classroom.

In terms of effectiveness, the Dunn and Dunn (1978) model may be reliable, valid and have a strong research base, but is it effective in establishing positive institutional change in the school environment? The answer is yes. Looking back at the successful example given in the

introduction, the Dunn and Dunn (1978) Learning Style Inventory (LSI) was used as the data collect tool of choice for the North Carolina school that improved student test scores from the 30th percentile up to the 85th percentile on the California Achievement Test of Basic Skills (CTBS). It is clear from this example that the Dunn and Dunn LSI was successful in accurately identifying student and teacher learning style preferences and indicating application. Findings from the LSI led to systematic changes in how students where taught and absorbed information, and how teachers facilitated learning in their classrooms.

The role of the school counselor is key in the implementation of a program of this nature. First, Griggs (1991) highlights the importance of counselors and teachers undergoing the Productivity Environmental Preference Survey in order to identify their own learning preferences. She states that counselors who recognize their own learning styles become more aware of the type of counseling techniques they unconsciously implement. Such self-awareness is useful for identifying unintentional prejudices for or against certain learning preferences. Griggs (1991) goes on to explain that "the starting point in teaching and counseling is to respond to the learning style needs of students, which implies knowledge of our own preferences and a conscious effort to expand our repertoire of counseling interventions and techniques to respond to student diversity". We must understand our own learning preferences first before we can attend to our students' needs. In doing so, we better modify our counseling techniques with various students and situations. Secondly, the idea of "Learning Style Counseling", counseling administered with the awareness of learning preferences of all parties involved in the school setting, is a method that can be employed and led by counselors in the schools (Griggs, 1991). This comprehensive concept incorporates learning preferences into most school counseling

duties. However, before we can address the idea of "Learning Style Counseling" we must first identify school counselors' roles and responsibilities and the federal laws that guide them. *Federal Mandates*

Two federal mandates that have had a significant effect on counseling roles and responsibilities in the last decade have been the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) of 2001 and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) in 2004 and its revision in 2007. NCLB was a passed by the Bush administration in 2001 in an effort to level the academic playing field and to bridge the gap between lower and higher achieving students. NCLB enacts the theory of standards-based education reform, embodying the belief that setting high standards and establishing measurable goals can improve individual outcomes in education. The Act requires states to develop assessments in basic skills to be given to all students in certain grades, in order for those states to receive federal funding for schools. The Act does not assert a national achievement standard. The standards are set by each individual state.

No Child Left Behind requires all public schools to administer a statewide standardized test annually to all students. Schools that receive Title I funding must make Adequate Yearly (AYP) Progress in test scores (e.g. each year, its fifth graders must do better on standardized tests than the previous years). If a Title I school fails to make AYP, then it is put on a list of "failing schools" published in the local paper and parents are given the option to transfer to another school. If it does not meet AYP for a second year, then it must provide special tutoring for its economically disadvantaged students. In theory, schools that don't make AYP for years are eventually subject to restructuring or closure. In practice, this has rarely occurred. Supporters of No Child Left Behind state that it adds needed accountability standards for schools, teachers and students. Critics say that NCLB is poorly funded, penalizes schools that need the greatest

level of financial support, and encourages teachers to "teach to the test" instead of focusing on the individual students' academic needs (Ellis, 2007).

The second major piece of federal educational legislation to come about in the last decade is The Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA). The IDEA is a federal law that governs how states and public agencies provide early intervention, special education, and related services to children with disabilities. It addresses the educational needs of children with disabilities from 13 specified categories, and covers them from birth to twenty-six years of age. IDEA is "spending clause" legislation, meaning that it only applies to those States and their local educational agencies that accept federal funding under the IDEA.

While States declining such funding are not subject to the IDEA, all States have accepted funding under this statute and are subject to it. The IDEA and its predecessor statute, the Education for All Handicapped Children Act, arose from federal case law holding that the deprivation of free public education to disabled children constitutes a denial of due process. It has grown in scope and form over the years. IDEA has been reauthorized and amended a number of times, most recently in 2007. IDEA has had a major effect on schools and their staff. By defining the purpose of special education, the IDEA clarifies the federal government-intended outcome for each child with a disability: "students must be provided a Free Appropriate Public Education (FAPE) that prepares them for further education, employment and independent living." This mandate directly affects teachers and counselors by forcing them to properly educate students with disabilities to meet FAPE standards. Consistent with research (West & Idol, 1993), the IDEA also directly states that there must be a high level of collaboration between educational staff to plan and implement practices to meet the federal standards.

Role of the School Counselor

The American School Counselors Association, or ASCA (2003), states that school counselors should focus on three main areas of service for students: 1) academic, 2) career, and 3) personal/social. Within that framework the counselor's role is very comprehensive. School counselors address all three areas of focus through a variety of services and roles. They develop and lead individual and group therapy sessions, which primarily focus on learning processes. School counselors coordinate and implement school wide programs in career education, psychological education, tutoring, peer helping, and skill development in communication, conflict resolution, problem solving, decision making, and time management and studying (Griggs, 1991). Counselors also consult with teachers and administrators to better enhance individual learning environments, a quality that is highly stressed in federal mandates. In many schools school counselors are also responsible for course scheduling, administering standardized tests, and addressing any and all crises that may occur during the school day. The roles and responsibilities of the school counselor are complex and varied. However, because counselors have such unique and critical roles in schools, they are in an exceptional position to address and employ learning style preferences into the school atmosphere.

Learning Style Counseling

Learning style counseling is a concept developed by Shirley Griggs (1991) to incorporate learning style models and philosophy into the school environment via the school-counseling role. Griggs (1991) lays out the following steps in implementing and administering the learning style counseling method supported by the research and knowledge by Dunn and Dunn's learning style model:

- Assess the developmental needs of students, psychosocial crises, and developmental tasks that are stage-related, and the special needs of groups, such as bilingual/bicultural students, and gifted and talented students.
- Develop a comprehensive, developmental counseling program based upon the needs assessments.
- Assess the individual learning styles of students, counselors, and teachers and counsel students to help them develop an understanding of their learning style preferences.
- Plan teaching and counseling interventions that are compatible with the learning style needs of students.
- 5) Evaluate teaching and counseling outcomes to determine the extent to which program objectives and counseling goals have been achieved.

The first two steps are fairly common practices among school counselors today. They assess the needs of their students and set up programs and services to address those needs. The third step takes this formula to a new level. It incorporates the assessment of learning styles of all the parties involved. In doing so, both students and the teachers involved become more cognitively aware of what 'works' for the student in the classroom. The fourth step looks at the learning style data that was collected from the teacher, student and possibly counselor to come up with techniques that will enhance the student's learning ability. The follow section describes what areas of learning preferences are addressed by taking the Learning Styles Inventory. *Matching Learning Style Preferences with Appropriate Counseling Techniques*

The following informational areas about student learning styles are revealed through the use of Dunn and Dunn's Learning Styles Inventory (1985):

- Environmental: bright versus dim light; sound present or absent; warm versus cool temperature; formal versus informal design.
- Emotional: high versus low structure; low versus high level of persistence, motivation; and responsibility versus nonconformity.
- 3) Sociological: preference for learning alone; in pairs; with adults, peers, team, or varied.
- Physical: auditory, visual, tactual, or kinesthetic perceptual strengths; high versus low mobility; and time of day preferences.
- 5) Psychological: global versus analytic; impulsive versus reflective; cerebral dominance.

Other techniques such as art therapy, bibliotherapy, mime, musical improvisation, and mutual storytelling with children, and compatible learning style preferences can be used to assist and lead in addressing a variety of student and teacher learning style preferences (Griggs, 1991). *Consultation between Professionals*

Griggs (1991) highlights the importance of consulting with teachers while implementing her learning style counseling model. She states that school counselors need to be skilled in consultation models and techniques because counselors are perceived by educators as knowledgeable in learning style models. Counselors' main objective is to advocate for the student, in essence "humanizing" the school system. School counselors improve upon the educational environment by addressing the unique differences between students and by consulting with those students' teachers and parents. Therefore, school counselors are in a unique position to enhance classrooms and curriculum strategies to accommodate the variety of learning style preferences of students.

Questions to be Addressed in Discussion

- Are learning style models effective and practical in an educational setting?
- If so, what is the role of a school counselor in regards to learning style models in the school setting?
- What can school counselors do to encourage the use of learning style-focused curriculum, strategies, and assessments, if anything?

Chapter III: Discussion

The discussion section will encompass the following: a summary of previously covered material, a critical analysis of that subject matter, suggestions and recommendations for counselors in the field with regards to learning style models, and finally, recommendations for further research.

Summary

The material covered in Chapter Two: Literature Review will be briefly addressed in this section. First, the heading entitled "What is Learning Style" described learning style as how each of us individually receives and processes information. It is important to remember that our learning style or "learning preference" is unique but is not set in stone and may, in fact, change over time. The following sections, Learning Style Theory, Learning Style Models, and Critiques of Learning Style Model, discussed the history of how learning style arose in the early 1970's and progressed to where it is today. In short, researchers and theorists like Kolb (1984) began to develop models to assess and explain individual learning techniques. Curry (1987) started to categorize the various models and assessments using her 'onion' model. Her theory suggested that at the core of individual learning is "cognitive style," a fixed, stable, and biological base for learning, something that is very difficult to change or adapt. This differs from the outer layer, "instructional preferences," that stated that learning styles are not fixed biologically, but are merely preferences relating to the environment (i.e. teaching style). Yet, critics (Coffield et al., 2004) believe that we can never truly know what lies at the core of learning and that the models of learning styles tend to be driven by theory and not by empirical evidence.

This led to the section called, *Finding a Reliable, Valid, & Effective Model*. Shirley Griggs (1991), author of *Learning Style Counseling*, makes a strong argument for the Dunn and

Dunn Learning Style Inventory (LSI) model in this section. She states that the Dunn and Dunn LSI model works the best in the school setting based on its multidimensional approach, its high rates of reliability and validity, and its relatively strong base of research. She highlights the Visual, Audio, Kinesthetic, and Tactile (VAKT) model, making references to the high numbers of students who are predominantly tactile and/or kinesthetic in nature. Griggs then goes on to suggest a format called "Learning Style Counseling" which was discussed in more depth in the following sections.

The next section, *Federal Mandates*, touched on the most recent federal laws that have guided school curriculum and guidance in the past couple of decades. The No Child Left Behind Act (2001) set standards and accountability measures unprecedented in the educational community. With its goal of closing the gap between lower and higher achieving students and raising national tests scores as a whole, it also ushered in a great deal of criticism from teachers and staff who spoke about lack of funding for the program and the negative consequence of having to "teach to the test". The second major federal mandate was the Individuals with Disabilities in Education Act (IDEA, 2004) that governs how states and public agencies provide early intervention, special education, and related services to children with disabilities. This Act reaffirms that a student with a disability has a right to a government funded Free and Appropriate Public Education (FAPE) that prepares them for further education, employment and independent living.

The section, *Role of the School Counselor*, stated that school counselors should focus on three main areas of service for students: 1) academic, 2) career, and 3) personal/social. Within that framework the counselor's role is very comprehensive. School counselors address all three areas of focus through a variety of services and roles. These include but are not limited to

individual and group therapy sessions, consultations with parents and teachers, test administration, scheduling, and a variety of other student and family advocacy services.

The section *Learning Style Counseling*, discussed Shirley Griggs (1991) and her model to incorporate the Dunn and Dunn learning style model into the school environment through the school-counseling role. Griggs' (1991) first step in the process is assessing the needs of the students and the school, especially those of students who may require special assistance. The second step is to develop a comprehensive model to address those needs. Third, assess the individual learning styles of students, counselors, and teachers and counseling student to help them develop an understanding of their learning style preferences. Fourth, plan teaching and counseling interventions that are compatible with the learning style needs of students. And finally, evaluate teaching and counseling outcomes to determine the extent to which program objectives and counseling goals have been achieved.

Griggs' (1991) work is further described in the following sections, *Matching Learning* Style Preferences with Appropriate Counseling Techniques and Consultation with Professionals, to explain two of the five steps in greater detail.

The last section of the literature review and the starting point of the discussion section are found in *Questions to be Addressed in Discussion*.

Discussion and Critical Analysis

In this section the questions proposed at the end of Chapter II: Literature Review will be discussed and critiqued. The questions will be addressed as follows:

- Are learning style models effective and practical in an educational setting?
- If so, what is the role of a school counselor in regards to learning style models in the school setting?

• What can school counselors do to encourage the use of learning style-focused curriculum, strategies, and assessments, if anything?

In response to the first question, "Are learning style models effective and practical in an educational setting?" the answer is, "it depends". It depends on a variety of factors. The first part of the question asks are learning style models effective? The answer depends on the learning style model being used. According to Coffield et al. (2004), most learning style models lack sufficient empirical evidence to support their claims of effectiveness. This is due to the lack of empirical studies done on learning style model, commonly referred to as the "VAKT" model, shows sufficient levels of validity and reliability in studies to constitute a solid format for administering what Griggs calls "learning style counseling".

In response to the second part of the question, "are learning style models practical?" again the answer is, "it depends". Following Griggs (1991) outline on how to implement "learning style counseling" in a school, the following criteria must be met in order for the learning-style model to be useful, effective and practical in an educational setting. 1) First, is the school counselor knowledgeable enough about learning style models and theory to properly explain, develop, implement and evaluate a learning-style counseling curriculum? 2) Second, is the administration and staff supportive, understanding, and willing to implement the idea of a learning-style focused curriculum? 3) And third, does the school have the resources available, both monetarily and personnel-wise, to successfully follow through with a comprehensive learning-style focused curriculum? If even one of these criteria is not met, a learning stylefocused school-wide model will be difficult to implement. Therefore, the learning style counseling model will tend to be neither effective nor practical for a school counselor to establish in a school.

If those criteria are met with great enthusiasm, the learning-style counseling model can be an effective tool in supporting students' overall success in the classroom. This was shown to be true in the study mentioned in the introduction regarding a school in North Carolina that successfully established a learning style-focused program with extremely positive results. However tempting it is to jump on board with the model of learning style counseling, one positive result does not seem sufficient enough to sway some school counselors and administrators. More studies must be conducted and must yield positive results to strengthen the correlation between success in the classroom and learning style counseling methodology.

The second question to be addressed is, "If learning style models are effective and practical, what is the role of a school counselor in regards to learning style models in the school setting?" Assuming that the North Carolina study is proof positive that the learning style counseling method is successful, what would be the role of the school counselor who wants to establish this method in his/her school?

Using Shirley Griggs' (1991) outline on her learning style counseling model as a guide, the following steps should be taken by a school counselor to establish a learning style focused program. First, the school counselor must educate themselves on the theory and methodology surrounding the learning style counseling method. This will include being proficient in understanding and implementing the various Dunn and Dunn (1978) learning style assessments for the appropriate age ranges. This will also include the knowledge and ability by the school counselor to properly assess a school's academic, social/personal and career needs, as well as translating those needs into a comprehensive learning style focused school-wide program. The counselor will then have to be able to recruit administration and staff to properly support the program in all its aspects. Finally, the school counselor will have to have the knowledge and resources to successfully evaluate and analyze the program after it has been implemented.

The final discussion question is, "What can school counselors do to encourage the use of learning style focused curriculum, strategies, and assessments, if anything?" Clearly, school counselors can do a variety of things to encourage the use of learning style-focused curriculum, strategies and assessment. Counselors may start by educating themselves thoroughly on Griggs' (1991) methods of learning style counseling. Second, part of a school counselor's job is to communicate and consult with fellow professionals regarding student affairs. During this process of consultation, which is highly stressed in both the No Child Left Behind and Individuals with Disabilities in Education Act, counselors may choose to use and teach learning style methodology to assist their peers in the school. By modeling behavior and by implementing techniques used by the learning style model successfully, teachers, parents, administration and students will take notice and hopefully adopt the idea that learning style methodology is not only helpful, but also essential in student academic success.

Recommendations for Counselors

I submit the following recommendations to school counselors regarding learning styles: 1) Understand learning styles as a predisposition; a student may be biologically be predisposed to a certain learning method, but that does not solidify their style; environment can play a significant factor in modifying their learning style if addressed early and often; 2) Learning style assessments are tools for dialogue, not diagnosis; 3) Learning style methodology is only one piece of the educational puzzle for students; 4) Remind teachers that curriculum should be content-centered first and student learning preference second.

Recommendations for Further Research

My recommendations for further research stem from concerns arose during research. First, in reviewing the literature, certain themes appeared regarding most of the learning style models and assessments. Supported by Coffield et al. (2004) research, there is an unclear direction in learning style theory and modality. This is due to the lack of quality empirical evidence surrounding the majority of learning style assessments. Therefore, more research into the validity and reliability of learning style models is required, specifically in the educational setting.

Second, there is the risk that paying too much attention to learning styles may in fact have adverse consequences in the education of children. If, as a result of changes made in light of learning styles, students are only taught in one specific style, the average student will be rendered unprepared for the complex workforce and therefore be unable to successfully adapt in the future to differing work and/or educational environments. Further research would shed more light on this question and its implications for the classroom.

References

- American School Counselors Association (2003). *The ASCA National Model: A framework for school counseling program*. Alexandria, VA: Author.
- Coffield, F., Moseley, D., Hall, E., & Ecclestone, K. (2004). *Learning styles and pedagogy in post-16 learning: A systematic and critical review*. London, UK: Learning & Skills Research Centre.
- Curry, L. (1987). Integrating concepts of cognitive or learning style: A review with attention to psychometric standards. Ottawa, ON: Canadian College of Health Service Executives.
- Dunn, R., & Dunn, K. (1978). *Teaching students through their individual learning styles: A practical approach*. Reston, VA: Reston Publishing Company.
- Dunn, R., & Dunn, K. (1993). *Teaching secondary students through their individual learning styles: practical approaches for grades 7-12*. Needham Heights, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Dunn, R., Dunn, K., & Price, G. (1985). *Manual: Learning style inventory*. Lawrence, KS: Price Systems.
- Ellis, C. R. (2007). No Child Left Behind A Critical Analysis, "A Nation at Greater Risk". *Curriculum and Teaching Dialogue, 9*(1-2), 221-233.
- Gonzalez, J., Nelson, J., Gutkin, T., Shwery, C. (2004) Teacher Resistance to School-Based Consultation with School Psychologists: A Survey of Teacher Perceptions. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, *12*(1), 30-37.

Gregorc, A. F. (1985). Inside styles: Beyond the basics. Columbia, CT: Gregorc Associates.

Griggs, S. (1991). Learning Styles Counseling. Clearinghouse on Counseling and Personnel Services. Ann Arbor, MI: ERIC Digest. Hurley, A. M. (1997). Understanding the Relationship between Learning Style and
Multiculturalism for School Counselors. *Caring in an Age of Technology. Proceedings of the International Conference on Counseling in the 21st Century, 6*, 157-162.

- Keefe, J. W. (1979). *Student learning styles: Diagnosing and proscribing programs*. Reston, VA: National Association of Secondary School Principles.
- Kirsch, I., Braun, H., Yamamoto, K., & Sum, A. (2007). *America's perfect storm: Three* forces changing our nation's future. Princeton, NJ: Educational Testing Service.
- Kolb, D. A. (1984). *Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Kolb, D. A. (1976). Learning Styles Inventory. Boston, MA: McBer.

- Laird, J., Kienzl, G., DeBell, M., Chapman, C. (2007). Dropout Rates in the United States: 2005 (NCES 2007-059). U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC: National Center for Educational Statistics. Retrieved June, 2009 from http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch
- Marzano, R. J. (1998). *A Theory-based Meta-Analysis of Research on Instruction*. Mid-continent Regional Educational Laboratory. Aurora, CO.
- Merrill, D. (2000). Instructional Strategies and Learning Styles: Which takes Precedence? *Trends* and Issues in Instructional Technology. Prentice Hall.

Myers, I. (1978). Myers-Briggs Type Indicator. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.

- Organization for Economic Co-operation & Development [OECD]. (2007). PISA 2006: Science competencies for tomorrow's world. Paris, FR: Author.
- Pettigrew, F., Buell, C. (2001). Preservice and Experienced Teachers' Ability to Diagnose Learning Styles. *Journal of Educational Research*, 82(1), 187-189.

- Raynor, S. (2007) Learning styles and sen: A teaching elixir, learning chimera or just fools gold?Do learning styles matter? *Support for Learning*, 22(1), 24-30.
- Raynor, S. & Riding, R. (1997). Towards a categorization of cognitive styles and learning styles. *Educational Psychology*, 17(1-2), 5-27.
- Sugarman, L. (1985). Kolb's Model of Experiential Learning: Touchstone for trainers, students, counselors, and clients. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 64, 264-268.
- Turnbull, A., Turnbull, R., & Wehmeyer, M. (2007). *Exceptional lives: Special education in today's schools* (5th ed., text rev.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education, Inc.
- West, J. F, & Idol, L. (1993). The Counselor as Consultant in the Collaborative School. *Journal* of Counseling & Development, 71, 678-683.
- Witkins, H.A. (1954). Personality through perception: An experimental and clinical study. Westport, CT: Greenwood Press.